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Plaintiff John Stringer (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, makes the following allegations based upon information and belief, except as to those 

allegations specifically pertaining to Plaintiff and his counsel, which are based on personal 

knowledge.  Plaintiff brings this action for restitution and monetary damages against defendants 

Combe, Inc., Combe Products, Inc., Combe Laboratories, Inc., and Combe International, Ltd. 

(collectively referred to as “Defendants”), demanding a trial by jury.  

 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiff, an African American, brings this civil rights action on behalf of himself 

and all others similarly situated against Defendants for violation 42 U.S.C. § 1981, which prohibits 

race discrimination in the making and performance of contracts. Defendants’ knowing 

concealment of material facts concerning the safety of their product for use by African Americans 

also runs afoul of the California Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”) and the California Unfair 

Competition Law (“UCL”). 

2. Defendants manufacture the well-known hair dye product line Just For Men®. Over 

the past decade, Defendants launched a targeted marketing campaign headlined by legendary 

Black sports figures to induce African American males to purchase their products.  Defendants 

engaged in this racially motivated conduct despite knowing that: (1) the Just For Men® Jet Black 

color shade intended for African American consumers contained seventeen times more p-

Phenylenediamine (“PPD”) – a remarkable “strong sensitizer” with the potential to cause severe 

health risks – than lighter color shades intended for White consumers, and (2) the sensitization 

rate to PPD is fives times greater for African American males than White males.  In the face of 

this unacceptable risk disparity between the races, Defendants neglected to warn or disclose that 

African American males had a significantly heightened propensity for severe physical injury or 

that the Jet Black color shade was unreasonably dangerous.   

3. Defendants’ discriminatory, fraudulent and unfair business practices prevented 

Plaintiff from making an informed decision and unfairly diminished his ability to come to a 

meeting of the minds contractually with the Defendants prior to making his purchase.  The 
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purchase transaction lacked good faith and fair dealing, and as a result Plaintiff sustained severe 

physical and other injuries.  For himself individually and on behalf of the Nationwide Class and 

the California Class (collectively the “Classes”) he seeks to represent, Plaintiff now requests 

damages, restitution, declaratory and injunctive relief and all other remedies deemed appropriate 

by this Court to make him whole and deter and prevent Defendants from engaging in similar 

intentional, illicit conduct against African Americans in the future. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This action arises under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and jurisdiction of this Court is invoked 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(4).   

5. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over California statutory claims pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.  

6. Jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) as, upon 

information and belief, the aggregated claims of the individual class members exceed $5,000,000, 

exclusive of interest and costs, at least one class member is of diverse citizenship from one 

defendant, and there are more than 100 class members. 

7. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, as Plaintiff resides in 

this District, the underlying purchase transaction took place in the District and Defendants do 

business in the District, specifically the sale and distribution of Just For Men® products. 

 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff, Mr. Stringer, is an adult resident of the State of California currently 

residing in Oakland, California. 

9. Defendant Combe, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business at 1101 Westchester Avenue, White Plains, New York 10604.   

10. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe, Inc., 

was engaged in the business of designing, developing, manufacturing, testing, packaging, 

promoting, marketing, distributing, labeling, and/or selling Just For Men® hair care and dye 

Case 4:17-cv-03192   Document 1   Filed 06/05/17   Page 3 of 61



 

 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 

�  4  �

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

products. 

11. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe, Inc., 

was present and doing business in the city of Oakland, the State of California. 

12. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe, Inc., 

transacted, solicited, and conducted business in the State of California and the city of Oakland, 

and derived substantial revenue from such business. 

13. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe, Inc., 

expected or should have expected that its acts would have consequences within the United States 

of America, the State of California, and the city of Oakland.  

14. Defendant Combe International, Ltd., is a Delaware corporation with its principal 

place of business at 1101 Westchester Ave., White Plains, New York 10604.  

15. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

International, Ltd., was engaged in the business of designing, developing, manufacturing, testing, 

packaging, promoting, marketing, distributing, labeling, and/or selling Just For Men® hair care 

and dye products.  

16. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

International, Ltd., was present and doing business in the city of Oakland, the State of California. 

17. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

International, Ltd., transacted, solicited, and conducted business in the State of California and the 

city of Oakland, and derived substantial revenue from such business. 

18. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

International, Ltd., expected or should have expected that its acts would have consequences within 

the United States of America, the State of California, and the city of Oakland.  

19. Defendant Combe Products, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with its principal place 

of business at El Duque Und Park Rr 971, Naguabo, Puerto Rico 00718.  

20. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Products, Inc., was engaged in the business of designing, developing, manufacturing, testing, 

packaging, promoting, marketing, distributing, labeling, and/or selling Just For Men® hair care 
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and dye products. 

21. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Products, Inc., was present and doing business in the city of Oakland, the State of California. 

22. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Products, Inc., transacted, solicited, and conducted business in the State of California and the city 

of Oakland, and derived substantial revenue from such business. 

23. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Products, Inc., expected or should have expected that its acts would have consequences within the 

United States of America, the State of California, and the city of Oakland.  

24. Defendant Combe Laboratories, Inc., is a Delaware corporation that has its principal 

place of business at 200 Shellhouse Drive, Rantoul, IL 61866.  

25. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Laboratories, Inc., was engaged in the business of designing, developing, manufacturing, testing, 

packaging, promoting, marketing, distributing, labeling, and/or selling Just For Men® hair care 

and dye products. 

26. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Laboratories, Inc., was present and doing business in the city of Oakland, the State of California. 

27. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Laboratories, Inc., transacted, solicited, and conducted business in the State of California and the 

city of Oakland and derived substantial revenue from such business. 

28. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Combe 

Laboratories, Inc., expected or should have expected that its acts would have consequences within 

the United States of America, the State of California, and the city of Oakland.  

 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

29. Just For Men® is a cosmetic hair care and dye product line intended to improve and 

alter hair and facial hair color. 

30. Defendants have developed, designed, formulated, manufactured, packaged, 
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labeled, advertised, marketed, instructed on, distributed and sold Just For Men® hair care and dye 

products across California and the United States since at least 1987.  

31. Defendants, the self-proclaimed “champions of facial hair,” boast that Just For 

Men® products are backed by “three decades of research and have delivered great results over 50 

million times.”   

32. By 2001, Just For Men® accounted for approximately 70% of the retail men’s hair 

coloring product market.  

33. Under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA), 21 U.S.C. § 361; 

FFDCA § 601, Just For Men® hair and facial hair dye products are recognized as coal-tar hair 

dyes.  Because of this classification, Defendants’ products are exempt from FDA approval prior 

to consumer use, and the FDA is prohibited from taking legal action against Defendants for safety 

issues related to the products so long as the packaging includes a generic caution statement noting 

that the products “contain ingredients which may cause skin irritation” and a skin test 

recommendation. 

34. On several occasions, the FDA unsuccessfully argued for repeal of the coal-tar 

exemption because of potential health hazards. See FDA Regulation of Cosmetics and Personal 

Care Products, Congressional Research Service (July 9, 2012). 

35. Despite Congressional handcuffs, FDA publications regarding coal-tar hair dyes 

recognize that one product ingredient in particular, p-Phenylenediamine (“PPD”), “has been 

implicated more prominently in leading to allergic reactions.”    

Phenylenediamine 

36. Defendants used p-Phenylenediamine (“PPD”) as an ingredient in their Just For 

Men® hair and facial hair dye products. 

37. PPD is an organic aromatic amine chemical compound that, when exposed to an 

oxidizing agent, produces a dark color pigment. 

38. Beyond being a dye component, PPD is utilized in the manufacture of rubber tires, 

as an additive to gasoline and as a photographic developing agent.    

39. Human exposure to PPD is hazardous and associated with potentially severe health 
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risks. 

40. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) has identified links 

between PPD and several acute and chronic injuries including but not limited to: 

a. Severe dermatitis; 

b. Renal failure; 

c. Gastritis; 

d. Acute contact dermatitis;  

e. Eczematoid contact dermatitis; 

f. Asthma; 

g. Vertigo; 

h. Tremors; 

i. Convulsions; and 

j. Comas.  

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, p-Phenylenediamine Hazard Summary, 106-50-3 (Jan. 

2000). 

41. Further, the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission (“CPSC”) flagged 

PPD as one of only five substances requiring the cautionary designation of “strong sensitizer”.  16 

CFR 1500.13. 

42. To qualify as a strong sensitizer, the CPSC must determine through reliable medical 

and scientific evidence that a substance has “significant potential for causing hypersensitivity”. 

At minimum, the human reaction to the substance must be “clinically important” and have a 

“significant impact on quality of life”. 16 CFR 1500.13(c)(5)(ii)(A-E).  

43. Because of increased exposure and hypersensitivity to PPD in the general 

population, the American Contact Dermatitis Society declared PPD the “Allergen of the Year” in 

2006.  

44. An abundance of scholarly journals and media reports acknowledge the significant 

risks associated with PPD exposure and have noted severe and sudden allergic reactions, including 

serious skin irritation, anaphylaxis, and even death.  
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45. PPD sensitization rates are significantly higher for African Americans than Whites.    

46. A scientific study by the Cleveland Clinic concluded that the sensitization rate to 

PPD in Black men was 21.2% compared to only 4.2% in White men.  Exhibit A – Dickel et al., 

Comparison of Patch Test Results With a Standard Series Among White and Black Racial Groups, 

American Journal of Contact Dermatis, Vol.12, No.2 (June, 2001). 

47. PPD is now known as one of, if not the most, common allergens in the African 

American population, even rivaling nickel, which is the leading cause of Allergic Contact 

Dermatitis (“ACD”) in the world.  

48. The extreme disparity in PPD sensitization rates between African Americans and 

Whites is well noted in scholarly journals and by the media.     

Jet Black 

49. Just For Men® hair dye products, in particular the Original Formula and the 

Mustache & Beard box kits, are sold in a spectrum of color shades, ranging from Blonde to Jet 

Black.  

50. Upon information and belief, Defendants used different amounts of PPD in the 

various color shades of their Just For Men® hair dye products. 

51. Upon information and belief, the amount of PPD used by Defendants in the Jet 

Black color shade was approximately 17 times greater than the amount of PPD used in lighter 

color shades.  

52. Upon information and belief, the overwhelming majority of consumers buying and 

using the Jet Black color shade are African American.  

53. Upon information and belief, Defendants possess information on product design, 

testing and consumer reports evidencing sensitization and adverse reactions by African American 

males to the Jet Black color shade. 

54. Upon information and belief, Defendants operate an internal claims process that 

seeks liability releases from injured consumers to conceal problems associated with Just For 

Men® products, including cases involving sensitization and adverse reactions by African 

American males to the Jet Black color shade.   
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55. Despite PPD’s designation as a “strong sensitizer” and a history of consumer 

complaints, Defendants failed to warn and concealed the significantly higher amount of PPD in 

the Jet Black color shade compared to lighter color shades of the same product.   

56. Defendants failed to warn and concealed that the Jet Black color shade exposed 

African American males to a significantly increased risk of potentially severe health risks 

compared to White males using lighter color shades of the same product. 

57. Defendants represented that their Jet Black color shade was safe and cosmetically 

effective. 

58. Defendants’ warning label for the Jet Black color shade inadequately addressed the 

potentially severe health risks associated with higher levels of PPD. 

59. Defendants omitted, concealed, and inadequately provided critical safety 

information regarding the Jet Black color shade in order to induce its purchase and use by African 

American males. 

60. Defendants intentionally engaged in and continue to engage in conduct likely to 

mislead African American consumers. This conduct is discriminatory, fraudulent, unfair and 

unlawful and significantly reduces and/or prevents African American consumers from coming to 

a meeting of the minds in their agreement to purchase Just For Men® products.   

Defendants’ Target Marketing 

61. Defendants intentionally target marketed their Just For Men® products – in 

particular the Jet Black color shade – to African American males. 

62. In and of itself, the term “Jet Black” has connotations traditionally associated with 

the African American population, including Jet Magazine, a weekly African American periodical.   

63. The exterior packaging and on-line image of the Jet Black color shade features a 

headshot of an African American male.      

64. Upon information and belief, Defendants intentionally placed the Jet Black color 

shade in “Ethnic Stores” and “Ethnic Sections” that traditionally sell and cater to African 

American consumers.   

65. Upon information and belief, Defendants collected marketing and consumer data 
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specific to race, including African American or Black.  

66. Upon information and belief, Defendants intentionally selected product 

spokespersons and advertising models because they appealed to African American males. 

67. Defendants embarked upon a systemic media advertising campaign – noted as 

“cheesy, hokey, goofy, silly and evidently effective” – that showcased unique television ads and 

aired during worldwide sporting events, such as the Super Bowl.  Exhibit B – The New York 

Times: “Just For Men Just Right for Former Stars” (Jan. 6, 2008). 

68. Defendants’ media advertising campaign targeted African American males by using 

spokesmen who were prominent African American male sports legends, including Walt “Clyde” 

Frazier and Emmitt Smith.  

69.  Mr. Smith’s extreme fame as the Just For Men® pitchman, who “reclaimed his 

edge” by using the dye product to eliminate grey in his black beard, arguably surpassed his 

notoriety as an NFL Hall of Fame inductee.  Exhibit C – SB*Nation “Emmitt Smith’s Football 

Legacy: 18 Talking Points on His ‘Just For Men’ Commercial” (Aug. 7, 2010). 

70. In 2015, Defendants intensified their media efforts to attract African American 

males to their facial hair dye products by regurgitating Mr. Frazier as the pitchman for Just For 

Men® Mustache & Beard.  Exhibit D – Elite Sports NY, “Keith Hernandez, Walt Frazier 

Announce Latest Venture” (Aug. 3, 2015). 

71. Mr. Frazier co-announced and appeared in an advertising campaign supporting 

Defendants’ “Best Beard Ever” contest, which encouraged consumers to upload their best beard 

and mustache photos under the social media hashtag #Beardspotting.  Exhibit E – Business Wire, 

“Just For Men® Launches #Beardspotting Contest, a Nationwide Search for the “Best Beard 

Ever” (Sept. 8, 2015). 

72. Defendants’ target marketing to African American males continued in the face of 

media and Consumer Affairs reports that their products caused sensitization and potentially severe 

injuries to users.  Exhibit F - News Tribune, “’Just For Men’ Hair Dye Users Report Allergic 

Reactions” (Oc. 23, 2012). 

73. Defendants’ #Beardspotting advertising campaign coincided with the popularity 
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rise of facial hair, including full beards and goatees, in the African American community. Exhibit 

G – Chicago Now, “The Black Man and His Beard” (Oct. 30, 2015). 

74. Despite knowing African American males were five times more likely than White 

males to experience an adverse reaction to PPD and that the Jet Black color shade contained 

seventeen times greater PPD than lighter shades of the same product, Defendants continued to 

aggressively target market African American males. 

75. Defendants intentionally engaged in and continue to engage in target marketing 

likely to induce and mislead African American consumers, including Plaintiff. This conduct is 

discriminatory, fraudulent, unfair and unlawful.   

Plaintiff’s Use Of Just For Men® 

76. Plaintiff, Mr. Stringer, is and was at all times alleged herein a citizen of the State of 

California and currently resides in Oakland, California.  

77. Plaintiff is an African American male. 

78. Plaintiff became knowledgeable of Just for Men® products through Defendants’ 

marketing campaigns, including but not limited to television advertisements and social media. 

79. Plaintiff was unaware of the high amounts of PPD contained in the Jet Black color 

shade or the heightened potential that he could experience a severe physical reaction from using 

the product.      

80. Plaintiff purchased and used as directed the Just For Men® Mustache and Beard 

box kit in the Jet Black color shade on or about September 28, 2016. 

81. Prior to applying the Jet Black color shade, Plaintiff performed a skin patch test with 

the product. The results of the skin patch test were unremarkable and lacked any sign of 

sensitization.   

82. Subsequent to using the Jet Black color shade, Plaintiff suffered a severe physical 

reaction to the product including but not limited to facial soreness, rash, itching, swelling and 

burning sensations as well as shortness of breath.  

83. Plaintiff’s severe physical reaction to the Jet Black color shade required emergency 

medical treatment and prescription medication on or about October 1, 2016.  
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84. Prior to September 28, 2016, Plaintiff had used the Jet Black color shade on many 

occasions without experiencing a severe physical reaction. 

85. As alleged herein and as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ discriminatory 

and wrongful conduct: 

a. Plaintiff has suffered severe physical injuries; 

b. Plaintiff has endured substantial pain, suffering and embarrassment; 

c. Plaintiff has individually suffered, and will continue to suffer economic loss, 

and has otherwise been physically, emotionally and economically injured; 

and 

d. Plaintiff’s injuries and damages are permanent and will continue into the 

future. 

 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

86. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and as a representative of all others 

who are similarly situated.  Pursuant to Rules 23(a), (b)(2), and/or (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, Plaintiff seeks certification of a Nationwide Class and a California Class. 

87. The Nationwide Class is initially defined as follows: 

All African American males residing in the United States who have 

purchased, used and incurred injury as a result of using the Just For 

Men® Jet Black color shade within the applicable statute of 

limitations, subject to appropriate tolling and estoppel (the 

“Nationwide Class”). 

88. The California Class is initially defined as follows: 

All African American males residing in California who have 

purchased, used and incurred injury as a result of using the Jet Black 

color shade within the applicable statute of limitations, subject to 

appropriate tolling and estoppel (the “California Class”). 

89. Plaintiff is a member of both Classes. 
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90. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend or modify the definitions of the Classes with 

greater specificity or division into subclasses after having had an opportunity to conduct 

discovery.  

91. Numerosity (F.R.C.P. 23(a)(1)): Members of the Classes are so numerous that their 

individual joinder is impracticable.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that there are thousands of 

African American males who have purchased and sustained physical injury and damages as a 

result of using the Jet Black color shade.    

92. Commonality (F.R.C.P. 23(a)(2)) and Predominance (F.R.C.P. 23(b)(3)): Common 

questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes and predominate over any 

questions which affect the individual members, in that Defendants have engaged in a common 

course of conduct in dealings with the Classes and acted in a manner generally applicable to the 

entirety of the Classes. The same legal theories and substantive law will apply to the claims of 

each member. These common questions of law and fact include but are not limited to the 

following:  

a. Whether Defendants target marketed their product to African American 

males; 

b. Whether Defendants knew or should have known that human exposure to 

PPD can cause severe physical injury; 

c. Whether Defendants knew or should have known that PPD sensitization rates 

are significantly higher for African American males than White males:  

d. Whether Defendants knowingly designed, produced, marketed and sold a 

product that was disproportionately unsafe and hazardous for African 

American males compared to White males:  

e. Whether Defendants failed to adequately warn or disclose that African 

American males using the Jet Black color shade were exposed to 

significantly greater amounts of PPD and increased risk of suffering physical 

injury compared to White males using the product;  

Case 4:17-cv-03192   Document 1   Filed 06/05/17   Page 13 of 61



 

 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 

�  14  �

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

f. Whether Defendants’ conduct interfered with Plaintiff’s contractual rights 

and enjoyment of the contractual relationship as applied to his purchase 

transaction of the Jet Black color shade;  

g. Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes a violation of Plaintiff’s civil rights 

under 42 U. S. C. 1981; 

h. Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes a violation of the California Legal 

Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1770(a)(5) and (a)(7);  

i. Whether Defendants’ conduct constitutes a violation of the California Unfair 

Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq.; 

j. Whether Plaintiff incurred physical injury and other damages because of 

Defendants’ conduct;  

k. Whether the Classes are entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, and if 

so, the nature of such equitable relief; and 

l. Whether Defendants are liable for punitive or exemplary damages, and if so, 

what amount is appropriate to punish them for their wanton and reckless 

conduct and deter such future conduct. 

93. Typicality (F.R.C.P. 23(a)(3)): Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of all 

members within the Classes. Plaintiff has been injured and discriminated against by the same 

targeted conduct that Plaintiff alleges herein to have harmed the Classes as a whole.  Plaintiff and 

the members of the Classes are all African American males who purchased, used and were injured 

by the Jet Black color shade.  Defendants’ wrongful and discriminatory conduct as alleged herein 

affected Plaintiff and the Classes in substantially the same manner.   

94. Adequacy of Representation (F.R.C.P. 23(a)(4)): Plaintiff is an adequate 

representative of the Classes because he is a typical member and his interests do not conflict with 

the members of the Classes.  Plaintiff has retained counsel competent and highly experienced in 

complex and class action litigation and consumer and civil rights actions.  Plaintiff intends to 

prosecute this action vigorously, to conclusion, for the benefit of the Classes.  Plaintiff and counsel 

will fairly and adequately protect and advocate the interest of the members of the Classes.        
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95. Superiority (F.R.C.P. 23(b)(1)-(3)): A class action is superior to other available 

means for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy and will result in a substantial 

benefit to the Classes, the public and the court system.  This action presents common issues of 

law and fact that predominate over any individual class member’s questions.  Individual litigation 

of each member’s claim is impractical and would increase the delay and expense to all parties and 

the court system in resolving the legal and factual issues in this case, and would further present 

the potential for inconsistent or contradictory rulings and judgments concerning the complex 

subject of this action.  Moreover, Defendants’ conduct – specifically the unlawful manufacturing, 

sales and marketing of the Jet Black color shade to African American males – is ongoing. 

Accordingly, individual actions would not settle the issue of whether Defendants’ conduct in the 

future is unlawful.  Plaintiff is unaware of any difficulties that are likely to be encountered in the 

management of this action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

   

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981  

(By Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class Against Defendants) 

96. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every paragraph of this Complaint as if 

fully set forth herein. 

97. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the 

Nationwide Class against Defendants. 

98. The Civil Rights Act of 1866, as amended 42 U.S.C. § 1981, guarantees that “[a]ll 

persons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same rights…to make and 

enforce contracts…as is enjoyed by white citizens, includ(ing) the making, performance, 

modification, and termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, 

and conditions of the contractual relationship.”   

99. Section 1981 prohibits racial discrimination in the sale and distribution of products 

to the public. 

100. Plaintiff and the Class are African Americans, and their rights to make contracts and 

enjoy the benefits of contractual relationships without impairments are protected by 42 U.S.C. § 
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1981. 

101. Defendants knowingly designed, produced, marketed and sold Just For Men® 

products that were disproportionately unsafe and hazardous for African American males 

compared to White males.  

102. Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff and the Class by knowingly failing to 

adequately warn or disclose that African American males using the Jet Black color shade were 

exposed to significantly greater amounts of PPD and increased risk of suffering a potentially 

severe physical injury compared to White males using the same product and/or lighter color 

shades of the same product.  

103. Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff and the Class by aggressively and 

unfairly targeting African American males in their marketing and advertising campaigns despite 

knowing that their products exposed African American males to greater amounts of PPD and 

increased risk of suffering a potentially severe physical injury compared to White males using the 

same product and/or lighter color shades of the same product. 

104. Defendants’ target marketing and deliberate failure to disclose a material trait of 

their products (namely, dangerous heightened PPD levels) and failure to warn of the increased 

likelihood for severe physical injury to African Americans compared to White consumers 

amounted to inducement, concealment and misrepresentation in contracting. Plaintiff and the 

Class were unable to make an informed decision in the purchase of the Just For Men® product 

and their contractual rights were impaired. 

105. Defendants interfered with the ability of Plaintiff and the Class to secure the equal 

performance and enjoyment of a contract as was offered to White consumers by denying them 

and equal ability to reach a meeting of the minds in contracting for the purchase of Just for Men® 

products. 

106. Defendants interfered with ability of Plaintiff and the Class to enjoy the alleged 

benefits of purchasing the Just For Men® product, in that they relied on Defendants’ false claims 

that the Jet Black color shade was safe and cosmetically effective and that reliance resulted in 

severe physical injury.      
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107. Defendants’ discriminatory and wrongful actions constitute a lack of good faith and 

fair dealing in contracting with Plaintiff and the Class.   

108. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff and the Class have suffered physical 

injury, emotional distress, humiliation, degradation, and other damages both pecuniary and non-

pecuniary in nature. 

109. Plaintiff and the Class have suffered harm, damages and economic loss and will 

continue to suffer such harm, damages and economic loss in the future. 

110. Defendants’ conduct complained of herein was intentional, willful, malicious, 

oppressive, wanton and with reckless indifference of basic civil rights and, accordingly, Plaintiff 

and the Class are entitled to punitive damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1981a(b)(1) in an amount 

sufficient to punish Defendant and deter future unlawful conduct. 

 
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of California Legal Remedies Act  
(Cal. Civ. Code, §§ 1750, et seq.)  

(By Plaintiff and the California Class Against Defendants) 

111. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein. 

112. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the 

California Class against Defendants.  

113. The California Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq., 

provides consumers with a private right of action for “unfair methods of competition and unfair 

or deceptive acts or practices” in connection with the sale of goods.  

114. The Just for Men® Jet Black color shade products are “goods” within the meaning 

of Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(a), Plaintiff and each member of the California Class are consumers as 

defined by California Civil Code § 1761(d), and the purchase of such products by Plaintiff and 

each member of the California Class constitute “transactions” within the meaning of Cal. Civ. 

Code § 1761(e).  

115. The CLRA’s list of proscribed practices relevant to this action are “[r]epresenting 
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that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or 

quantities which they do not have . . .” and “[r]epresenting that goods or services are of a particular 

standard, quality, or grade.” Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1770(a)(5), 1770(a)(7).  

116. The aforementioned provisions of the CLRA apply to affirmative 

misrepresentations as well as omissions and/or concealment. 

117. Defendants market and otherwise represent that their Just For Men® product is safe 

and cosmetically effective for use by African American males, as evidenced by assertions such as 

Just For Men® products are backed by “three decades of research and have delivered great results 

over 50 million times.”  Defendants specifically purport that the Mustache & Beard box kit will 

give consumers their “best beard ever in 5 minutes” and result in “beard nirvana.”  

118. Defendants had exclusive knowledge of and concealed and/or failed to disclose that 

African American males using the Jet Black color shade were exposed to significantly greater 

amounts of PPD and increased risk of suffering a potentially severe physical injury compared to 

consumers using lighter color shades of the same product.  

119. The heighted PPD levels in the Jet Black color shade as well as the significant risk 

of potentially severe physical injury were material facts to the consumer transactions between 

Defendants and Plaintiff as well as Defendants and the California Class. 

120. Defendants knew and intended that their concealment or failure to disclose the 

heightened PPD levels in the Jet Black color shade and the significant risk of potentially severe 

physical injury would create a false impression in consumers regarding product safety and 

cosmetic effectiveness. 

121. Plaintiff and members of the California Class were induced by and relied on 

Defendants’ on-going deceit regarding the safety and cosmetic effectiveness of the Jet Black color 

shade and as a result suffered harm, damages and economic loss and will continue to suffer such 

harm, damages and economic loss in the future. 

122. On May 30, 2017, Plaintiff sent Defendants written notice of the violations 

contained herein and demanded that they rectify the wrongful acts pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code 

§1782(a).  The notice was sent via certified mail, return receipt requested. 
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123. Plaintiff presently seeks injunctive relief only for violation of the CLRA, but if 

Defendants fail to rectify or agree to rectify their actions then Plaintiff will amend this Complaint 

to include allegations for the recovery of actual, punitive and statutory damages pursuant to Cal. 

Civ. Code §1780(a)(3). Plaintiff also will seek a Court order enjoining the above-described 

wrongful acts and practices of Defendants and for restitution, disgorgement, statutory damages, 

and any other relief that the Court deems proper. 

 
 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law  

(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17200, et seq.) 
(By Plaintiff and the California Class Against Defendants)  

124. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein.  

125. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the 

California Class against Defendants.  

126. Plaintiffs has standing to pursue this cause of action as Plaintiff has suffered injury 

in fact and have lost money or property as a result of Defendants’ actions as delineated herein. 

127. The California Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq. 

(the “UCL”), broadly prohibits unfair competition in the form of any “unlawful, unfair, or 

fraudulent business act or practice.”     

128. Defendants’ business practices, as alleged herein, violate the “unlawful” prong of 

California Business & Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., because: (i) race discrimination 

in contracting, as alleged herein against Defendants, is prohibited under 42 U.S.C. §1981; and (ii) 

deceptive conduct by concealment and/or omission, as alleged herein against Defendants, violates 

the CLRA, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq.   

129. Defendants’ business practices, as alleged herein, violate the “fraudulent” prong of 

California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq. because they are likely to deceive 

a reasonable consumer.   

130. Defendants’ business practices, as alleged herein, violate the “unfair” prong of 
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California Business & Professions Code sections 17200, et seq. because: (i) the utility of 

Defendants’ failure to adequately warn or disclose that African American males using the Jet 

Black color shade is significantly outweighed by the gravity of the harm the imposed on Plaintiff 

and the California Class; (ii) the injury suffered by Plaintiffs and the members of the California 

Class as a result of Defendants’ failure to adequately warn or disclose that African American 

males using the Jet Black color shade is not one that Plaintiff and the members of the California 

Class could have reasonably avoided; and (iii) Defendants’ failure to adequately warn or disclose 

that African American males using the Jet Black color shade not only threatens the safety of 

consumers but also is racially oppressive and morally reprehensible. 

131. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent 

business practices regarding the Jet Black color shade, Plaintiff and the California Class suffered 

injury and Defendants have unlawfully, unfairly and/or fraudulently obtained money from 

Plaintiff and the members of the California Class.  

132. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiff and the California Class seek 

an order requiring Defendants to make full restitution of all monies they wrongfully obtained from 

Plaintiff and members of the California Class.   

133. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiff seeks an order of the Court 

enjoining Defendants from manufacturing, selling and marketing the Just For Men® Jet Black 

color shade (specifically the Original Formula and Mustache and Beard box kits) until proper 

disclosures and warnings are made regarding the PPD amounts and the risk of potentially severe 

physical injury for African American consumers or, alternatively, the PPD ingredient is 

appropriately reduced or removed.  Otherwise, Plaintiff, the members of the California Class and 

the general public may be irreparably harmed and/or denied an effective and complete remedy if 

such an order is not granted. 

 

PRESERVATION CLAIMS 

134. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as though fully set forth herein. 
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135. To the extent that Defendants may allege that one or more of Plaintiff’s claims are 

barred by the applicable statute of limitations, Plaintiff asserts that the statute of limitations is and 

has been tolled by Plaintiff’s discovery that his injuries were caused by Defendants’ dangerous 

product and failure to adequately warn of the product’s risks, all as more fully set forth in this 

Complaint. 

136. Plaintiff further asserts that Defendants’ intentional acts of concealment alleged 

herein have tolled the applicable statutes of limitations, in that Plaintiff could not have reasonably 

discovered the dangerous levels of PPD contained in the Jet Black color shade or the likelihood 

of severe physical injury.  

137. In the alternative, Defendants are estopped from relying on any statute of limitations 

because of their concealment of the dangerous levels of PPD contained in the Jet Black color 

shade or the likelihood of severe physical injury.  Defendants were under a duty to disclose this 

information because it is non-public information over which Defendants had exclusive control, 

because Defendants knew this information was not available to Plaintiff and because this 

information was crucial to Plaintiff in making his purchasing decision. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, John Stringer, on behalf of himself and the Classes, prays for 

the following relief: 

A. Certification of the proposed Nationwide Class and California Class, including 

appointment of Plaintiff as Class representative and their counsel as Class Counsel  

D. The court issue a preliminary and permanent injunction requiring Defendants to 

immediately cease and desist from manufacturing, distributing, selling and 

promoting the Just For Men® Jet Black color shade products (specifically the 

Original Formula and Mustache & Beard box kits) and from the target marketing 

of those products to African American males until proper disclosures and 

warnings are made regarding the PPD amounts and the risk of potentially severe 
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physical injury for African American consum ers or, alternatively , the PPD 

ingredient is appropriately reduced or removed ; 

Trial by jury; 

Judgment in favor of Plaintiff and the Classes and against all Defendants, for all 

damages in such amounts as may be proven at trial ; 

Compensation for non-economic losses, including, but not limited to 

disfigurement, pain and suffering, mental anguish and emotional distress, in such 

amounts as may be proven at trial; 

Punitive and/or exemplary damages in such amounts as may be proven at trial; 

Restitution and disgorgement of all revenue that Defendants have obtained 

through the manufacture, marketing, and sale of the Just For Men® Jet Black color 

shade products; 

Attorney ' s fees and costs; 

Pre- and post-judgment interest; and 

Any and all further relief, both legal and equitable, that the Court may deem just 

and proper. 

Dated: June 2, 2017 ARIAS , SANGUINETTI, STAHLE & TORRIJOS, LLP 

Elise R. Sanguinett 
Alfredo Torrijos 

URBAN & TAYLOR S.C. 
Jay A . Urban (Pro Hae Vice to be submitted) 

Counsel for Plaintiff John Stringer 
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